
 
450 S. Parish Avenue 

Johnstown, CO 80534 
970.587.4664 

JohnstownCO.gov 
 

The Community that Cares 

 

 PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION  

450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO  
Wednesday, April 10, 2024 at 6:00 PM  

  

MISSION STATEMENT: Enhancing the quality of life of our residents, businesses, and visitors 

through community focused leadership. 

AGENDA 

CALL TO ORDER 

ROLL CALL 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Minutes for 3/13/2024 Meeting 

PUBLIC COMMENTS - Regarding items and issues not included as a Public Hearing on this 

Agenda (limited to 3 minutes each) 

NEW BUSINESS 

2. Yellow Roof Annexation 

DEPARTMENTAL REPORT 

COMMISSIONER REPORTS AND COMMENTS 

ADJOURN 

 

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT NOTICE 

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and other applicable laws, persons who need 

accommodation in order to attend or participate in this meeting should contact Town Hall at 970-587-4664 

no later than 48 hours before the meeting in order to request such assistance. 

De conformidad con la Ley de Discapacitados Estadounidenses y otras leyes vigentes, los individuos que 

necesitan adaptaciones funcionales para asistir o participar en esta reunión deberán comunicarse con la 

Municipalidad marcando el 970 587- 4664 a lo más tardar 48 horas antes de dicha reunión para solicitarla. 

 

1



 

 

 

 

 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

7:00 PM, Wednesday, March 13, 2024 

SUMMARY MINUTES  
 

The meeting was called to order by Chair Grentz at 7:00 P.M. Roll call and attendance were taken. 
Present were Commissioners Jeanneret, Flores, Hayward, Urban, and Chairman Grentz. Campbell and 
Hatfield were absent and excused. 
 
A motion for approval of the agenda was made.  
M: Flores/ 2nd Hayward.  This was passed 5/0. 
 
Minutes of the regular meetings held on February 14th, 2024. Minutes were approved 4/0.  
M: Hayward/2nd Jeanneret. Flores abstained as he was not in attendance. 
No public comment. 
 
The Public Hearing for the Blue Spruce Ridge Annexation was opened. The planning staff were asked 
to present their report. Tyler Smith presented an overview of the land that was to be annexed and 
stated that there were multiple other portions that were annexed previously as a part of the project 
area. Staff recommended approval of the Blue Spruce Ridge Annexation and proposed zoning.  
 
The commission asked what the variation was between the zoning types of R-1 versus R-2 and the type 
of development that would be expected. Smith clarified the zoning type and the correlation that this 
had with the updated comprehensive plan. Smith also explained what lot configuration would be 
allowed with each of these zoning types. No further questions were asked of staff at this time.  
 
Bob Choate with Caliber Development, the applicant, presented on behalf of the developer. Choate 
highlighted his expectation for the development and what the development might look like. Chair 
Grentz asked about townhomes. Choate stated townhomes were there to encourage some of the 
diversity in pricing of homes in the area.  
 
Chair Grentz opened the hearing for public comment.  
 
Richard, a resident of the Ridge, brought up concerns related to his view and property values if the 
development was to occur. He expressed opposition to townhome development, as it would impair his 
way of life in the Ridge.  
 
Chair Grentz clarified that the current applicant only included land being annexed into the Town and 
the proposed zoning type.  There was no pending development plan for comment. 
 
Woods, a private landowner of seven acres, stated concerns about information accessibility for the 
residents that were in the area. She wanted to ensure enough time to review the submittal and 
suggested delaying the public hearing. Ms. Woods opposed the R-2 zoning and stated that R-1 would 

2

Item 1.



2 

 

 

be more applicable.  
 
Martin Manning, a private landowner, brough concerns of safety with regard to the irrigation ditches 
and ponds in the area and wanted to make sure that Caliber was too keep what they has told 
landowners previously.  
 
Morty Lane, a resident of the Ridge, brough up concerns regarding the floodplain in the area. Lane 
stated that the grading would have to be extreme and was worrisome for current and future 
landowners. 
 
Chair Grentz asked further questions of the public after opening the discussion to commissioners. 
Commissioner Urban stated that there would be more steps in the development process and 
encouraged the public to show up to the next meeting to make additional statements.  
 
Chair Grentz asked further questions of Smith regarding the R-2 versus R-1 zoning types. Smith 
highlighted that the largest difference between the two designations would be the ability to have 
townhomes on the property. 
 
Chair Grentz asked further questions of Gleim, the Planning Director, as to their options for making a 
recommendation on the project. Gleim stated that there are two items, and each could be approved, 
approved with conditions, or denied.  
 
The public hearing was closed. There was brief discussion among the Commissioners and the following 
motions were made: 
 
ANNEXATION 
M: Flores / 2nd: Hayward to recommend APPROVAL of the Blue Spruce Ridge Annexation. 
Motion Passed – 5/0 
 
ZONING 
M: Hayward/ 2nd Flores to recommend APPROVAL of R-1 zoning for the Blue Spruce Ridge Annexation. 
Motion Passed - 4/1, with Chair Grentz opposed. 
 
New Business: An item was on the agenda for the Commission to discuss changing the regular Planning 
& Zoning Commission meeting time from 7pm to 6pm. After discussion, the following motion was made: 
 
M: Hayward/ 2nd Urban to change the meeting time for the Planning & Zoning Commission’s regular 
meeting from 7pm to 6pm. 
Motion Passed – 5/0  
 
Commissioners had no reports. The meeting was adjourned. 
 
Respectfully Submitted,  
Lilly Cory, Planner I   

Accepted by Chair: 
     
      _______________________________________ 

3

Item 1.



 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

AGENDA MEMORANDUM 
 

HEARING DATE: April 10, 2024 

 

SUBJECT: Annexation and Zoning Request – Yellow Roof Annexation 

 

ACTION PROPOSED: 

 

Public Hearing  to Consider the following: 

A. Consideration of Resolution 2024-18 accepting the 

Findings of Fact and Conclusions for the Yellow Roof 

Annexation; 

B. Consideration of Ordinance 2024-250, to annex certain 

unincorporated lands located in Larimer County known as 

the Yellow Roof Annexation; and, 

C. Consideration of Ordinance 2024-251, to establish I-1 

(Industrial, Light) zoning on the property known as the 

Yellow Roof Annexation  

 

LOCATION: 

 

 

 

APPLICANT: 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRESENTED BY: 

All that part of the southeast quarter of Section 27, Township 5 

North, Range 68 West of the 6th Principal Meridian, County of 

Larimer, State of Colorado. 

  

Yellow Roof Development, LLC. 

 

1. Resolution 2023-061-Aetting Fourth Annexation Proceedings 

2. Resolution 2024-18 Findings of Fact and Conclusions for the 

Yellow Roof Annexation 

3. Ordinance 2024-250 Approving the Yellow Roof Annexation 

4. Ordinance 2024-251 Approving I-1 Zoning for the Yellow 

Roof Annexation 

5. Annexation Petition 

6. Vicinity Map 

7. Annexation Map 

8. Zoning Map 

 

Jeremy Gleim, AICP, Planning Director 

 

 

4

Item 2.



 

The Community That Cares 
www.TownofJohnstown.com 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

BACKGROUND & SUMMARY 

The applicant, Yellow Roof Development, LLC., requests annexation and I-1(Industrial, Light) 

zoning for approximately 5.7 acres of land in Larimer County.  The property is located on the 

north side of Larimer County Road 16 (LCR 16), just west of Interstate 25 (I-25).  

 

The subject property is presently zoned CN (Commercial Neighborhood) in unincorporated 

Larimer County. There is an existing office building on the property, which was constructed in 

1968 and which measures 4,536 square feet. The project is partially bordered by incorporated areas 

of Johnstown to the east and south. The land to the north, west, and partially to the south is in 

unincorporated Larimer County.    

 

SURROUNDING ZONING & LAND USE 

North: RR2 (Rural Residential) – Larimer County – Agricultural Uses 

South: RR2 (Rural Residential) and CN (Commercial Neighborhood) – Larimer County – 

Agricultural Uses; and, 

 Town of Johnstown – Johnstown Corner Annexation No. 2 

East: I-25 and PUD Zoning – Town of Johnstown – Industrial Uses 

West:  RR2 (Rural Residential) – Larimer County – Agricultural Uses 

 

PUBLIC NOTICE & AGENCY REFERRALS 

Notice for the Planning & Zoning Commission hearing was republished in the local paper of 

widest circulation, the Johnstown Breeze, on Thursday, March 28, 2024. This notice provided the 

date, time, and location of the Planning and Zoning Commission hearing, as well as a description 

of the project.  Notices were mailed to all property owners within 800 feet of the property in 

question.  

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION & ANALYSIS 

Annexation: This annexation is being considered by the Town for the following reasons: 

1. At least 1/6 of the area to be annexed for each individual annexation is contiguous to the 

Town of Johnstown boundary. 

2. The property is located within the Town of Johnstown Growth Management Area. 

3. The Town can provide water, sewer, and police services to the property. 

4. The Town is authorized to annex the area without an election under Section 30(b) of 

Article II of the Colorado Constitution. 

A resolution finding Substantial Conformance with C.R.S. requirements was passed by the Town 

Council on March 4, 2024, and set a public hearing for the annexation to be heard in front of the 

Town Council on April 15, 2024. The annexation map includes this parcel as well as the adjacent 

right-of-way for Larimer County Road 16.  

 

Zoning & Development Standards 

5

Item 2.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


 

The Community That Cares 
www.TownofJohnstown.com 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

The current zoning for the property is CN – Commercial Neighborhood in Unincorporated 

Larimer County.  There are no known conditional uses or uses by special review for the property. 

 

The applicant requests I-1 (Industrial, Light) zoning upon annexation, in order to support the 

future development of a gas station/convenience mart on the property. As described in the Town’s 

adopted Land Use & Development Code (LUDC), the I-1 district provides primarily service, 

employment, manufacturing, and distribution uses at a scale, intensity and format that will not 

have significant impact on adjacent uses, and which can mix with supporting and compatible 

service and retail uses characteristic of mixed and flex business areas. 

 

Table 4-2: Permitted Principal Land Uses, in the LUDC, identifies gas stations as permitted uses 

in the I-1 zone. This application does not include the consideration or development of a gas 

station/convenience mart; however, since it was mentioned as a potential future land use on the 

subject property, it is worth mentioning that the I-1 zone would support that.  

 

The Future Land Use Map in the 2021 Johnstown Area Comprehensive Plan (Comp Plan) 

identifies the subject property as being within the High Density/Intensity land use area. As 

described in the Comp Plan, High Density/Intensity areas (HDI) will be generally characterized 

by a high percentage of nonresidential uses, with some residential possibly integrated into larger 

development areas. These HDI corridors and nodes will accommodate and experience larger 

volumes of traffic and be located along busy arterial and highway corridors, and especially at 

interchanges and intersections. These areas are intended to provide high-quality, high-visibility 

locations for retail, office, and employment activities, with some light industrial uses that can 

appropriately mitigate impacts and contribute to the employment base. 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN ALLIGNMENT 

The Johnstown Comprehensive Plan (Comp Plan) creates a long-term vision for the development 

of the town. The Comp Plan identifies the Town’s Growth Management Area (GMA), which 

includes incorporated lands within the current town limits, as well as certain unincorporated lands 

within Larimer and Weld counties. The GMA can be likened to a growth boundary, which 

represents the logical expansion of the town over time. The property which is the subject of this 

annexation is contiguous to lands within the corporate boundary of Johnstown and exists within 

the GMA. The Future Land Use Map identifies this area as a High Density/Intensity area, which 

is consistent with the proposed I-1 (Industrial, Light) zoning. Staff finds that the proposed 

annexation represents a logical expansion of Johnstown’s corporate boundary, in alignment with 

the goals and strategies of the Johnstown Comp Plan. 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN ALLIGNMENT 

 Natural & Built Environment  

6

Item 2.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


 

The Community That Cares 
www.TownofJohnstown.com 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

o Guide growth in the community through appropriate annexation, zoning, 

planning, and land use development. 

 

Staff finds that the proposed annexation and zoning is consistent with the goal and strategy 

referenced above, pursuant to the adopted Johnstown Strategic Plan. 

 

LEGAL ADVICE:  

 

The Town Attorney received this request as well as the Town Manager  

 

FINANCIAL ADVICE:  

 

NA 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: There are three actions associated with this project and each one 

must be voted on separately. The resolution establishes the findings of fact and conclusions for the 

proposed annexation; therefore, it should be voted upon prior to a vote on the ordinances to 

recommend approval of the annexation and zoning. If the resolution fails, the findings to support 

the ordinances would dissolve, and the ordinances would automatically fail. 

 

1.  Resolution 2024-18 – Findings of Fact and Conclusions: Recommend that the Town 

Council APPROVE Resolution 2024-18, accepting the Findings of Fact and Conclusions for the 

Yellow Roof Annexation. 

 

2. Ordinance 2024-250 – Approving Yellow Roof Annexation: Recommend that the Town 

Council APPROVE Ordinance 2024-250 to approve the annexation of approximately 5.7 acres, 

known as the Yellow Roof Annexation. 

 

3. Ordinance 2024-251 – Approving I-1 (Industrial, Light) Zoning: Recommend that the 

Town Council APPROVE Ordinance 2024-251 approving I-1 zoning for the property known as 

the Yellow Roof Annexation 

 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 

 

RESOLUTION 2024-18 

For Approval: The Planning & Zoning Commission recommends that the Town Council 

APPROVE Resolution No. 2024-18, accepting the Findings of Fact and Conclusions for the 

Yellow Roof Annexation. 

 

7

Item 2.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


 

The Community That Cares 
www.TownofJohnstown.com 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

For Denial: The Planning & Zoning Commission recommends that the Town Council deny 

Resolution No. 2024-18. 

 

ORDINANCE 2024-250 

For Approval: The Planning & Zoning Commission recommends that the Town Council 

APPROVE Ordinance No. 2024-250 approving annexation of approximately 5.7 acres, known as 

the Yellow Roof Annexation. 

 

For Denial: The Planning & Zoning Commission recommends that the Town Council deny 

Ordinance No. 2024-250. 

 

ORDINANCE 2024-251 

For Approval:  The Planning & Zoning Commission recommends that the Town Council 

APPROVE Ordinance No. 2024-251 approving I-1 zoning for the property known as the Yellow 

Roof Annexation. 

 

For Denial: The Planning & Zoning Commission recommends that the Town Council deny 

Ordinance No. 2024-251. 

 

8

Item 2.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


4 March

9

Item 2.



10

Item 2.



11

Item 2.



 

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 

RESOLUTION NO.  2024-18 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS BASED THEREON  

WITH RESPECT TO THE YELLOW ROOF ANNEXATION 
 

WHEREAS, the Town of Johnstown, Colorado (“Town”) is a Colorado home rule municipality, 

duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado and the Town’s Home Rule Charter; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Town Council is vested with authority to administer the affairs of the Town; 

and  

WHEREAS, Yellow Roof Development, LLC, a California limited liability company, submitted 

a Petition for Annexation for real property situated in the Southeast Quarter of Section 27, Township 5 

North, Range 68 West of the 6th Principal Meridian, County of Larimer, State of Colorado, consisting of 

approximately 5.7 acres, being more particularly described on Exhibit A, and known as the “Yellow Roof 

Annexation;” and  

WHEREAS, on March 4, 2024, by Resolution No. 2024-10, the Town Council found the Petition 

for Annexation to be in substantial compliance with C.R.S. § 31-12-107(1); and 

WHEREAS, on April 15, 2024, after due notice, the Town Council conducted a public hearing 

and, based on the evidence contained in the official file, the official records of the Town and the evidence 

produced at the hearing, desires to enter the following findings of fact and conclusions with the respect to 

the Yellow Roof Annexation. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO, THAT: 

 
The Town Council hereby sets forth its findings of fact and conclusions with respect to the 

Yellow Roof Annexation. 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
 

1.       The requirements of the applicable parts of C.R.S. § 31-12-104 and C.R.S. § 31-12-105 have 

been met including the following: 

 

A. Not less than one-sixth of the perimeter of the area proposed to be annexed is contiguous with 

 the Town as shown on the annexation map.   

 

B. A community of interest exists between the area proposed to be annexed and the Town due to 

the proximity of the area to the Town, the desires of the owner to annex and the fact that it is 

within the planning area contemplated in the Johnstown Area Comprehensive Plan. 

 

C. The area will be urbanized in the near future and the area is capable of being fully integrated 

with the Town. 

 

D. Although less than fifty (50%) percent of the adult residents of the area proposed to be 

annexed make use of Town facilities, the landowners of the area proposed for annexation plan to 

12

Item 2.



convert the area to urban uses in less than five (5) years, and urban services, which are currently 

being provided to other citizens of the Town, can be provided to citizens of the proposed annexed 

area on the same terms and conditions as the services are made available to other citizens.  The 

Town is able to provide water service and the Town’s sewer system can be extended to the 

property annexed with the same standards as the current sewer system serving other citizens.  

Police and other municipal services can be provided as well. 

 

E. No land held in identical ownership has been divided into separate parts.  No land with a  

valuation of over $200,000 has been included without written consent.  No annexation 

proceedings concerning this area have been commenced by any other municipality. 

 

F. This annexation will not result in any detachment of area from any school district. 

 

G. No part of the area to be annexed extends any more than three (3) miles from the existing 

Town boundaries.  The Town has in place a plan for that area as required by C.R.S. § 31-1-105. 

 

H. The entire widths of any streets to be annexed are included within the annexation. 

 

2. No petition for annexation election has been submitted and an election is not required pursuant to  

C.R.S. § 31-12-107(2).  An annexation agreement has been submitted. 

 

3. The Town Council has determined that additional terms and conditions will not be imposed. 

 

4. The Petition was signed by the owners of 100% of the property to be annexed exclusive of streets 

and alleys.                       

 

5. Notice of the hearing has been given as required by C.R.S. § 31-12-108. 

 

CONCLUSIONS 

 
1. The area proposed for annexation is eligible for annexation pursuant to applicable parts of C.R.S.  

§ 31-12-104. 

 

2. None of the limitations of C.R.S. § 31-12-105 apply to restrict annexation. 

 

3. Said Yellow Roof Annexation may be annexed by Ordinance pursuant to C.R.S. § 31-12-111, 

without an election under C.R.S. § 31-12-107(2). 

 

PASSED, SIGNED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED THIS ___ day of __________, 

2024. 

      

ATTEST:       TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 

 

By:__________________________                           By:________________________________ 

Hannah Hill, Town Clerk                                            Troy D. Mellon, Mayor 

13

Item 2.



TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-250 

 

ANNEXING CERTAIN UNINCORPORATED LANDS LOCATED IN THE 

SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 27, TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 

68 WEST OF THE 6TH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, COUNTY OF LARIMER, 

STATE OF COLORADO, CONSISTING OF APPROXIMATELY 5.7 ACRES 

AND KNOWN AS THE YELLOW ROOF ANNEXATION 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Johnstown, Colorado (“Town”) is a Colorado home rule 

municipality, duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado and the 

Town’s Home Rule Charter; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Council is vested with authority to administer the affairs of the 

Town; and  

WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 2024-10, the Town Council found a petition for annexation 

of certain property situated in the Southeast Quarter of Section 27, Township 5 North, Range 68 

West of the 6th Principal Meridian, County of Larimer, State of Colorado, consisting of 

approximately 5.7 acres, being more particularly described on Exhibit A, attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by this reference, known as the “Yellow Roof Annexation,” to be in 

substantial compliance with C.R.S. § 31-12-107(1); and 

 

WHEREAS, after notice pursuant to C.R.S. § 31-12-108, on April 15, 2024, the Town 

Council held a public hearing concerning the proposed annexation to determine if the annexation 

complies with C.R.S. §§ 31-12-104 and 105; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has determined that the requirements of C.R.S. §§ 31-12-104 

and 105 have been met, that an election is not required and that no additional terms or conditions 

are to be imposed on the annexed area. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO, THAT: 

 

Section 1. The annexation of certain unincorporated property situated in the Southeast 

Quarter of Section 27, Township 5 North, Range 68 West of the 6th Principal Meridian, County 

of Larimer, State of Colorado, consisting of approximately 5.7 acres, being more particularly 

described on Exhibit A, be and the same is hereby approved and said unincorporated area is 

hereby incorporated and made a part of the Town of Johnstown, Colorado. 

 

Section 2. That the annexation of such unincorporated area to the Town of Johnstown, 

Colorado shall be complete and effective on the effective date of this Ordinance, except for the 

purpose of general property taxes, and shall be effective as to general property taxes on and after 

the first day of January, 2025. 

 

Section 3. That, within thirty (30) days of the effective date of this Ordinance, the Town 

Clerk be and is hereby authorized and directed to: 

14

Item 2.



 2 

 

A. File one copy of the annexation map with the original of the annexation ordinance 

in the office of the Town Clerk; and 

B. File three certified copies of the annexation ordinance and map of the area 

annexed containing a legal description of such area with the Larimer County 

Clerk and Recorder. 

 

Section 4. This Ordinance shall take effect as provided by State law. 

 

INTRODUCED AND APPROVED on first reading by the Town Council of the Town of 

Johnstown, Colorado, this __ day of _________, 2024. 

 

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 

ATTEST: 

 

By: ______________________________  By: ________________________________ 

       Hannah Hill, Town Clerk           Troy D. Mellon, Mayor 

 

 

 

 PASSED UPON FINAL APPROVAL AND ADOPTED on second reading by the 

Town Council of the Town of Johnstown, Colorado, this _____ day of __________________, 

2024. 

 

       TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 

 

       ATTEST: 

 

By:_______________________________  By:_________________________________ 

       Hannah Hill, Town Clerk           Troy D. Mellon, Mayor 

 

15

Item 2.



TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-251 

 

APPROVAL OF INDUSTRIAL LIGHT (I-1) ZONING OF THE 

PROPERTY KNOWN AS THE YELLOW ROOF ANNEXATION, 

LOCATED IN THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 27, 

TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE 6TH PRINCIPAL 

MERIDIAN, COUNTY OF LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO, 

CONSISTING OF APPROXIMATELY 5.7 ACRES 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Johnstown, Colorado (“Town”) is a Colorado home rule 

municipality, duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado and the 

Town’s Home Rule Charter; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Council is vested with authority to administer the affairs of the 

Town; and  

WHEREAS, the Town Council approved annexation of certain property situated in the 

Southeast Quarter of Section 27, Township 5 North, Range 68 West of the 6th Principal 

Meridian, County of Larimer, State of Colorado, consisting of approximately 5.7 acres, being 

more particularly described on Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 

reference, known as the Yellow Roof Annexation (“Property”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the property owners applied for Industrial Light (I-1) zoning of the Property in 

conjunction with annexation; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to state law, upon annexation, the Town Council must zone the 

Property within ninety (90) days; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town’s Planning and Zoning Commission held a hearing and 

recommended approval of Industrial Light (I-1) for the Property; and 

 

WHEREAS, on April 15, 2024, the Town Council held a public hearing to determine 

appropriate zoning for the Property and, based upon the evidence received at the hearing, finds 

that the requested zoning of the Property to Industrial Light (I-1) conforms to the Town’s 

Comprehensive Plan. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO, THAT: 

 

1. Zoning Approval.  Zoning of the Property known as the Yellow Roof Annexation and 

more particularly described on the attached Exhibit A shall hereby be designated as 

Industrial Light (I-1). 

 

2. Effective Date.  This Ordinance, after its passage on final reading, shall be numbered, 

recorded, published and posted as required by the Home Rule Charter of the Town of 

Johnstown, Colorado (“Charter”) and the adoption, posting and publication shall be 

16

Item 2.



 2 

authenticated by the signature of the Mayor and the Town Clerk and by the Certificate 

of Publication.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon the later of the following: 

(i) final passage as provided by the Charter or (ii) the effective date of the annexation 

of the Property.  At such time, the Town Clerk is directed to file this Ordinance with 

the real estate records of the Larimer County Clerk and Recorder.  Copies of the entire 

Ordinance are available at the office of the Town Clerk. 

 

INTRODUCED AND APPROVED on first reading by the Town Council of the Town of 

Johnstown, Colorado, this __ day of _________, 2024. 

 

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 

ATTEST: 

 

By: ______________________________  By: ________________________________ 

       Hannah Hill, Town Clerk           Troy D. Mellon, Mayor 

 

 

 

 PASSED UPON FINAL APPROVAL AND ADOPTED on second reading by the 

Town Council of the Town of Johnstown, Colorado, this _____ day of __________________, 

2024. 

 

       TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 

 

       ATTEST: 

 

By:_______________________________  By:_________________________________ 

       Hannah Hill, Town Clerk           Troy D. Mellon, Mayor 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

17

Item 2.



18

Item 2.



19

Item 2.



20

Item 2.



21

Item 2.



22

Item 2.



23

Item 2.



24

Item 2.



25

Item 2.



26

Item 2.



27

Item 2.



28

Item 2.



29

Item 2.



30

Item 2.



31

Item 2.



32

Item 2.



33

Item 2.



34

Item 2.



35

Item 2.



N

36

Item 2.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E COUNTY ROAD 16

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERSTATE 25

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE FRONTAGE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARKET PLACE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTY ROAD 5

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOHNSTOWN CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOHNSTOWN CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1" = 1000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
YELLOW ROOF ANNEXATION & ZONING VICINITY MAP



N

C
H

EC
KE

D
: 

D
AT

E:
 

D
R

AW
N

: 

R
EV

IS
IO

N
 #

:  
D

AT
E:

 
JO

B 
N

O
: 

D
AT

E:
 

YE
LL

O
W

 R
O

O
F 

AN
N

EX
AT

IO
N

LA
R

IM
ER

 C
O

U
N

TY
, C

O
LO

R
AD

O
C

O
11

58
A

A 
PO

R
TI

O
N

 O
F 

TH
E 

SE
 1

/4
 S

EC
 2

7,
 T

5N
, R

68
W

61
63

 E
as

t C
ou

nt
y 

Ro
ad

 1
6

Lo
ve

la
nd

, C
O

 8
05

37

p:
 9

70
.6

13
.1

44
7

w
w

w
.ta

it.
co

m

O
ra

ng
e 

C
ou

nt
y

Sa
n 

Lu
is 

O
bi

sp
o

Sa
cr

am
en

to
Ri

ve
rs

id
e

D
en

ve
r

Bo
ise

D
al

la
s

A
tla

nt
a

Si
nc

e 
19

64

EN
G

IN
EE

RI
NG

   
EN

VI
RO

NM
EN

TA
L  

 B
UI

LD
IN

G
   

LA
ND

AS
SO

C
IA

TE
S

&

AN
N

EX
AT

IO
N

 M
AP

1 of 1

C
G

12
/1

0/
20

23
SV

12
/2

0/
20

23

37

Item 2.



N

C
H

EC
KE

D
: 

D
AT

E:
 

D
R

AW
N

: 

R
EV

IS
IO

N
 #

:  
D

AT
E:

 
JO

B 
N

O
: 

D
AT

E:
 

YE
LL

O
W

 R
O

O
F 

ZO
N

IN
G

LA
R

IM
ER

 C
O

U
N

TY
, C

O
LO

R
AD

O
C

O
11

58
A

A 
PO

R
TI

O
N

 O
F 

TH
E 

SE
 1

/4
 S

EC
 2

7,
 T

5N
, R

68
W

61
63

 E
as

t C
ou

nt
y 

Ro
ad

 1
6

Lo
ve

la
nd

, C
O

 8
05

37

p:
 9

70
.6

13
.1

44
7

w
w

w
.ta

it.
co

m

O
ra

ng
e 

C
ou

nt
y

Sa
n 

Lu
is 

O
bi

sp
o

Sa
cr

am
en

to
Ri

ve
rs

id
e

D
en

ve
r

Bo
ise

D
al

la
s

A
tla

nt
a

Si
nc

e 
19

64

EN
G

IN
EE

RI
NG

   
EN

VI
RO

NM
EN

TA
L  

 B
UI

LD
IN

G
   

LA
ND

AS
SO

C
IA

TE
S

&

ZO
N

IN
G

 M
AP

1 of 1

KR
12

/1
0/

20
23

SV
12

/2
0/

20
23

38

Item 2.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1247.90' DEED

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 89°47'30" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
170.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 89°47'30" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
333.20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 79°31'30" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.59'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 14°20'00" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
531.20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 14°20'00" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
519.68'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 89°47'30" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
LARIMER COUNTY ROAD 16

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°47'30"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' WATERLINE EASEMENT BOOK 1356, PAGE 283

AutoCAD SHX Text
69.93'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S89°47'30"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°12'30"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N79°31'30"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
277.57'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N14°20'00"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
426.39'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1252.34' RECORD OF SURVEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
S1/4 CORNER  SEC. 27 T5N R68W

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE CORNER  SEC. 27 T5N R68W

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF BEGINNING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN REC. #0099088505

AutoCAD SHX Text
30.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION BOOK 1128, PAGE 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN  REC. #2000081479

AutoCAD SHX Text
MLD EQUITIES, LLC RURAL RESIDENTIAL (RR2)  REC. #98111935

AutoCAD SHX Text
S00°12'30"W24.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
YELLOW ROOF DEVELOPMENT LLC REC. #20060097963  248,282 SQ. FT.   5.70 ACRES 

AutoCAD SHX Text
104°12'30" DEED

AutoCAD SHX Text
104°32'30" RECORD OF SURVEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNINCORPORATED LARIMER COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNINCORPORATED LARIMER COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION  REC. #20220005365

AutoCAD SHX Text
MLD EQUITIES, LLC RURAL RESIDENTIAL (RR2)  REC. #98111935

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED ZONING: INDUSTRIAL LIGHT (I-1)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEYOR CERTIFICATE: I, STEVEN B. VARRIANO, A COLORADO REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR, DO HEREBY STATE THAT THIS ZONING MAP IS AN ACCURATE REPRESENTATION OF THE PROPERTY TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE, INFORMATION, BELIEF, AND IN MY PROFESSIONAL OPINION.  I FURTHER STATE THAT THIS CERTIFICATE DOES NOT EXTEND TO ANY UNNAMED PARTIES OR THE SUCCESSORS AND/OR ASSIGNS. STEVEN B. VARRIANO, P.L.S. 30126

AutoCAD SHX Text
LARIMER C.R.16

AutoCAD SHX Text
I-25

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LARIMER COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLORADO

AutoCAD SHX Text
VICINITY MAP 

AutoCAD SHX Text
N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO JOHNSTOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO LOVELAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANGLE POINT ON ZONING BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTROL CORNER AS DESCRIBED HEREON.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONING BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWN COUNCIL APPROVAL THIS MAP TO BE KNOWN AS YELLOW ROOF ZONING IS APPROVED AND ACCEPTED TO THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO BY ORDINANCE NUMBER   , PASSED AND ADOPTED ON FINAL READING AT A REGULAR MEETING OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO, HELD ON THE            DAY OF                  ,         .            DAY OF                  ,         .  DAY OF                  ,         .                  ,         . ,         .         . . BY:                                .                                  .   .       MAYOR ATTEST:                             .                                              .                  .                     TOWN CLERK

AutoCAD SHX Text
YELLOW ROOF ZONING TO THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN  A PORTION OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 27, TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF A PORTION OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 27, TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE 6TH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, COUNTY OF LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1" = 40'

AutoCAD SHX Text
80'

AutoCAD SHX Text
40'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONING DESCRIPTION: ALL THAT PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 27, TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE 6TH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 27, WHICH POINT IS 1247.9 FEET WEST OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 27; THENCE WESTERLY ON THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 27 A DISTANCE OF 170 FEET; THENCE ON AN ANGLE OF 75°27'30" TO THE RIGHT A DISTANCE OF 531.2 FEET; THENCE ON AN ANGLE OF 104°12'30" TO THE RIGHT A DISTANCE OF 519.68 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF U.S. HIGHWAY NO. 185; THENCE ON AN ANGLE OF 75°27'30" TO THE RIGHT ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE A DISTANCE OF 442.59 FEET; THENCE ON AN ANGLE OF 93°51'30" TO THE RIGHT A DISTANCE OF 333.2 FEET; THENCE ON AN ANGLE OF 79°19'00" TO THE LEFT A DISTANCE OF 24.0 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, COUNTY OF LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINEAL UNITS ARE U.S. SURVEY FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES: 1. THE PROPOSED ZONING IS INDUSTRIAL LIGHT (I-1). THE PROPOSED ZONING IS INDUSTRIAL LIGHT (I-1). 2. BEARINGS BASED ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST BEARINGS BASED ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 27, TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST AS NORTH 89°47'30" WEST ACCORDING TO RIGHT-OF-WAY CONVEYANCE TO COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF HIGHWAYS RECORDED OCTOBER 31, 1960 IN BOOK 1128, PAGE 3. 3. FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY COMMITMENT FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY COMMITMENT 139063676802, DATED FEBRUARY 4, 2021 WAS RELIED UPON FOR RECORD DATA REGARDING RIGHTS-OF-WAY, EASEMENTS AND ENCUMBRANCES IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS MAP. 4. THIS MAP WAS COMPILED USING EXISTING PLATS, DEEDS, LEGAL THIS MAP WAS COMPILED USING EXISTING PLATS, DEEDS, LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS, AND OTHER DOCUMENTS AND IS NOT BASED ON A FIELD SURVEY NOR SHOULD IT BE CONSTRUED AS A BOUNDARY SURVEY. 5. THE TOTAL AREA OF THE ANNEXED PROPERTY IS 248,282SF THE TOTAL AREA OF THE ANNEXED PROPERTY IS 248,282SF (5.70 ACRES). 6. PROPERTY ADDRESS: 6163 EAST COUNTY ROAD 16, LOVELAND, PROPERTY ADDRESS: 6163 EAST COUNTY ROAD 16, LOVELAND, CO 80537 7. THIS MAP IS NOT A LAND SURVEY PLAT. THIS MAP IS NOT A LAND SURVEY PLAT. 8.  SEWER TO BE UNDER INTERSTATE 25 TO CONNECT TO TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN SEWER SYSTEM UPON FURTHER DEVELOPMENT OF SITE. 9.  LITTLE THOMPSON WATER DISTRICT WILL BE ALLOWED TO SERVICE PROPERTY UNTIL FURTHER DEVELOPMENT EXTENDS TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN WATER ADJACENT TO PROPERTY. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 RETA LOU HEINRICY TRUST RETA LOU HEINRICY TRUST RURAL RESIDENTIAL (RR2)/COMMERCIAL NEIGHBORHOOD (CN)  REC. #93032805

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION   

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY 

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNINCORPORATED LARIMER COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT LINE


	Top
	Item 1.	Minutes
	3.13.24  draft Minutes

	Item 2.	Yellow Roof Annexation
	Staff Report
	01  Resolution No. 2024-10 Finding Substantial Compliance and setting the Hearing Date for Yellow Roof Annexation
	02  Resolution 2024-18 - Findings of Fact
	03  Ord 2024-250 - Annexation
	04  Ord 2024-251 - Zoning
	05 Petition for Annexation
	06  Vicinity Map
	07 Annexation Map
	08  Zoning Map

	Bottom

